Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes
June 3, 2025

A regular meeting of the Town of Chino Valley Planning and Zoning Commission was held on Tuesday,
June 3, 2025, at the Town of Chino Valley Council Chambers, 202 N. State Route 89, Chinc Valley,
Arizona.

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEMBERS present: Chair Chuck Merritt, Vice-Chair Gary
Pasciak, Commissioner Michael Ditta, Commissioner Teena Meadors, Commissiconer Jeffrey Pizzi,
Commissioner Richard Zamudio, and alternate Commissioner Joseph Morabito. Commissioner William
Welker was absent.

STAFF MEMBERS present. Laurie Lineberry, Development Services Director, Jessica Barragan, Senior
Planner, Terri Denemy, Town Manager, Gerreann Froberg, Senior Processing Coordinator, and Nicholas
Harwick, Audio/Video.

CALL TO ORDER: Chair Merritt called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. A quorum was declared. The
Commission meeting began with the Pledge of Allegiance led by Commissioner Pizzi.

CONSENT CALENDAR - A motion was made by Commissioner Meadors to accept the consent agenda.
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Ditta and passed unanimously by a 7-0 vote.

PUBLIC HEARING #D.1 - TA-2025-03 — Request to amend the Town of Chine Valley Unified
Development Ordinance, Chapter 154, Chapter 3 by creating an Agricuitural Residential 36-acre
minimum (AR-36) district.

Chair Merritt asked if anyone on the Commission had a disclosure to declare regarding this item. There
were none.

Laurie Lineberry, Director, presented the siaff report and stated the Text Amendment was to add back in
the AR-36 district. The district had been removed in 2020 because at that time there were no parcels in
the Town which were zoned AR-36. The Town's new General Plan stated the need to have the district for
larger parcels to offer opportunities for uses other than houses. She explained that the larger parcels
would have the ability to buffer on their own site any impacts to neighbors, and that landowners would
need to submit for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to explain their proposed uses. Lineberry stated that
the draft Code went to the Zoning Advisory Workgroup, which debated, added, and removed some items.
The draft Code had also been discussed at the Planning and Zoning Commission May 2025 Study
Session and was now before the Commission to reinstitute the AR-36 zoning district.

Merritt asked the Commission if they had any questions for staff. There were none.

Merritt opened the meeting for public comments and shared the rules for speaking to the Commission.
There were no comments from the public.

Merritt closed the public portion of the meeting for this item only.

Motion was made by Vice-Chair Pasciak, seconded by Meadors, to approve TA-2025-03, as
reflected in Attachment A, subject to the staff report, and information provided during the
hearing. A vote was taken, and the motion passed unanimously with a 7-0 vote.

PUBLIC HEARING #D.2 — CUP-2025-01 — This is a request by Prospecti4, on behalf of Running W
Ranch LLC and Wilkinson Investments LLC, for the approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for
construction of a 284-Acre Solar Facility, across two parcels, 306-02-300H and 306-01-003H, located at
3245 Jerome Junction, Chino Valley Arizona 86323.

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 1 of 7



Chair Merritt asked if anyone on the Commission had a disclosure to declare regarding this item.
Merritt shared that he had spoken with the Town staff and two Town Council members on this item.

Laurie Lineberry, Director, presented the staff report and stated that the two-parcel site consisted of 642
acres, of which 281 acres were proposed for the Wilkinson Family Solar Farm. She explained that in
2014 a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) had been approved by the Town for a 200-acre solar farm at this
site and, after one year, the permit expired without beginning construction. In 2022, the Wilkinsons
approached the Town to review their proposed solar farm, and at that time the Town staff had proposed a
Text Amendment that revised the open space district to allow solar farms. At that point, the Planning and
Zoning Commission recommended that the ordinance not move forward to change the open space to
allow solar farms, but instead directed the Town staff to wait until the General Plan was in place. After
the General Plan was approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Town Council in June
2023, and voted on by the public in November 2023, the Wilkinson family came te the Town and said they
were ready to move forward with a CUP for their solar farm. The new General Plan gave a pathway to
develop an ordinance for protections for the Town, and staff again asked the Wilkinsons to wait. The
Town staff then formed the Solar Advisory Workgroup, and a draft Ordinance was heard by the Planning
and Zoning Commission in November 2024, and then again in January 2025. The draft Ordinance was
brought to the Town Council in March 2025, and was not approved. Lineberry further explained that
after that the Wilkinsons applied for a Pre-Application meeting to move forward with a CUP. Town staff
felt that morally, ethically and legally it was the right thing to do to atlow the Wilkinsons to bring their
proposal forward, that they had waited patiently for a number of years to be heard on their project. Staff
took the application through the standard process, a neighborhood meeting was held on May 15, 2025,
and after receiving a letter with concerns from a neighbor, the Town staff added a number of conditions to
the CUP to address those concerns. She stated the applicant was in attendance, and that staff
recommended the Commission hold a public meeting and forward the item to the Town Council for a
decision.

Merritt asked the Commission if they had any questions for staff.
Pizzi asked for clarification on the outline of the parcels, and which part showed the proposed site.
Lineberry showed a slide of the parcels which laid out the proposed site.

Applicant, Sarah Rypkema, stated she was with Prospect14, and presented a PowerPoint showing their
business model for the Wilkinsan Family Solar Farm. She shared the Wilkinson family history with the
Town. She explained that the proposed project would be a smaller scale project, with 281 acres next to
an existing APS substation, and Prospect 14 had a signed APS Interconnection Agreement. She felt that
solar was right for a Town like Chino Valley, and had minimal environmental impact. She stated that they
agreed with all the conditions proposed in the CUP. She stated they had received letters of support from
neighbors after the neighborhood meeting. She shared some community benefits they were willing to
consider, and stated the project would allow the landowner to exercise their property rights and provide
income to their family.

Merritt asked the Commission if they had any questions for the applicant.

Meadors asked that if they would be connected to the APS grid, why would they also need battery

storage, that there would be the risk of fire or chemicals wasted from them. She felt there should be no
reason for the batteries.

Rypkema replied that the battery storage would be to help stabilize the grid and provide power longer.
She added that the batteries helped the grid remain stable with the introduction of renewables.

Pasciak asked how long the solar farm would be active, and how a jeep trail could be on the site with the
proposed security fence around site. He also asked if they had pians to develop the balance of the site,
and if the 16-foot two-way traffic road proposed in the plan was a public or private road.

Rypkema replied that the lease would be for 25 years, with a possible extension to 40 years. They would
ask for the CUP to be for 40 years. She explained the jeep trail would be on the other portion of the
parcel, and not through the project. She stated she was not aware of any other plans to develop the

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeling Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 2of 7



balance of the site. She replied that the two-way traffic road was a misprint, it would be an access road
sufficient for fire vehicles with turnarcunds, which would be within the site, not a public road.

Pasciak asked about the wildlife and stated that some of the subject areas were used for fawning by the
pronghorn. He felt that other than a small amount for the schocls, the Town would not be getting
anything, and that they should be working with the Town to establish some fees for the lifetime of the
project.

Rypkema replied that they were consulting with statewide groups and agencies for wildlife and would
foliow their recommendations on mitigation measures if needed. She stated that they would be open to
discussing with the Town a payment in lieu of taxes.

Pizzi asked if they would be supplying power to APS and TEP.
Rypkema replied that the proposed project would only supply APS.
Morabito asked if Prospect14 would be leasing the total two parcels,

Rypkema replied that they had an option over the whole property, but the lease would only need 281
acres.

Ditta asked how the school taxes were calculated.
Rypkema replied that a tax professional calculated the assessment based on 25 years.

Zamudio asked what type of fire suppression systems would be used, and did they have a second
backup if panels caught on fire, like available sand and dirt mixture to put on the actual panels if they do
catch on fire. He stated it took three days for a fire to cool down on solar panels.

Rypkema explained that 20-foot containers would be used with 4-step fire suppression systems within,
with detection, explosion control, and fire extinguishing functions. She stated they had no backup for fires
on the panels, just for the batteries, but they would be open to looking into a backup plan for the panels if
it was conditioned.

Merritt pointed out that the proposal stated the power would not go to California, but that if they were
hooked into the APS grid, would that not also hook into the California grid, and no one knows where the
power winds up.

Rypkema replied that since it would be 69 KV, there would be much less likelihood that it would go to
California, and the California ISO was not proposed in their recent proposal to APS in the power purchase
agreement.

Merritt stated that a solar farm had previously been approved at the south end of the Town, which had no
battery system, however APS took the project over and installed batteries. He asked what prevented
APS from taking over this project and developing the full property, that APS could enter into a new
agreement and purchase the land.

Rypkema replied that Prospect14 just went through a request for proposals with APS, and APS chose a
power purchase agreement, a contract to purchase the power rather than owning the power. To further
develop, APS would need new permits with the Town.

Lineberry added that the proposed CUP wouild be for only the 281 acres, if anyone wanted to develop
more of the parcels, they would have to come back to the Town for approval.

Merritt pointed out that if the Town had an ordinance in ptace that said the Town of Chino Valley did not
allow solar, then there would be no way for Prospect14 to expand this project down the road.

Lineberry confirmed Merritt's statement.

Merritt opened the meeting for public comments and again shared the rules for speaking to the
Commission.

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 3of 7



Terri Denemy, Town Manager, shared she had received an email from Shelly Gordon, member of
Arizonans for Community Choice, and read the letter into the record. (see attached)

Paul Hawkesworth — 3905 Old Home Manor Drive, Chino Valley, stated he bought his property from the
Wilkinsons. His concerns included diminished property value, wildlife, glare, and setbacks. He shared
that he had a discussicn with Prospect14 and felt he received no information on their policies. He stated
he would pass by the solar field every time he went to or from his house and was not told of any viewshed
analysis. He felt if the CUP went through, the project would be sold to APS and shared that Prospect14's
website showed several facilities sold to outside companies, and then it would no longer be local people
as neighbors, but a large company who would not care about the surrounding properties. He still felt his
concerns were not addressed; he had purchased his property to create legacy property for his children,
and this project would prevent him from building houses for his children where he wanted to on his own
property.

Andy Tobin — 20755 N. Hackamore, Paulden, stated he lived in Paulden for 25 years and worked for a
non-profit, Western Way, whose function was to promote energy in all its sections, nuclear, gas or solar.
He shared that he had spent three years on the Arizona Corporation Commissicn, eight years in the
Arizona Legislature, and was currently a consultant for Yavapai County Legislature, but was present in
his private capacity. He stated that Arizona was fast approaching a true power crisis and was reliably
short, and new technology was prepared to replace coal, although there was a long way to go with
nuctear. He reiterated that Yavapai County needed more power, and did not want to see brownouts. He
expressed respect for the Wilkinson family and stated they are our neighbors too and favored this project.

Gary Denny — 2879 Arizona Trail, Chino Valley, stated that he owned El Charo Norte. He stated that he
would make money whether the solar field was built or not and shared that Jay Wilkinson had been a
friend of his. He stated that the current property owners were not blood relatives, and that Jay would not
have wanted this project, he wanted irrigation and to raise alfalfa. He felt any money received would not
be enough. He stated that nature was inviting; fences, walls and technology were not, that 115,000
square miles would be necessary to make our Country energy independent on solar. He felt that there
were plenty of places in Arizona to put solar farms where no one could physically see the solar paneis.

Gary Beverly — 1219 Granite Creek Lane, Chino Valley, stated he was a close neighbor, lived just
outside of the notification boundary for the project, and walked past this site every day. He stated he
lived in Chino Valley for 50 years and had seen a lot of changes but felt that this would be one change
that was needed in Chino to become more seif-reliant. He thought Chino should respect private property
rights and that the landowners had a long history and investment in the land, and had the right to change
the use of their land as long as it did not affect the neighbors. The neighbors bordering the site were
Chino Valley's industrial park on the south, and he felt it was a great place for the project with a
substation on the property. He felt there were a lot of benefits to town in terms of economics, and he
supported the project.

Rhonda Ceremony — 450 Firesky, Chino Valley, stated she wanted to know where Prospect14 got the
numbers for the tax stuff and did not believe that much money would come from the project. She felt that
Chino Valley would not benefit at all, power goes into the grid. She applauded the Wilkinsons for wanting
to better themselves and being patient with the Town, but the project would do nothing for the Town.

April Durnet — 1519 Florida Lane, Chinc Valley, stated she felt the Town has had a lot of changes, and
that the Town did not repair the roadways or get other benefits from those changes. She felt this project
would benefit the Wilkinsons and APS, but did not benefit Chino Valley, that the roads would get beat
down by the heavy equipment at all hours of the day and night and the neighborhood was not quiet
anymore. She did not feel that this project was in the best interest of the community, and was
exasperated by the level of traffic, the level of intensity that went on in the Town. The solar farm would be
her view from her porch, and she would no longer get to see the beauty she bought the property for years
age. The Wilkinsons were not the only family that had been here in Arizona for a very long time, she
married into a family that had been here for over 100 years, and they had worked hard and retired onto
their property. She shared that she rode horses past the site often and did not want to see this project or
stop utilizing the Peavine Trail due to construction. She stated that she was a member of the Chino
Valley Equestrian Park and asked what the changes to them would be. She asked the Commission to

FPlanning & Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 4 of 7



consider all of these things, and not just the Wilkinsons. She felt the project would run a risk of fire, and
Prospect14 would not be around to contain what happens.

Jon Gillespie, Rose Law Group, 7144 E. Stetson, Scottsdale, stated he worked with the applicants and
has followed the process of the solar ordinance. He felt that in placing appropriate conditions on a
project, there are a lot of things that could happen, and the purpose of a CUP was to make it compatible
with the surrounding properties. The Town expanded the notice area from the typical 300-foot for a CUP.
What they were proposing was actually a use that conserved the rural nature of the area, it wouldn't
extend infrastructure for water, wouldn’t widen roads, increase traffic, create noise, or lead to population
increase. He felt the project would keep the land as a legacy property for the Wilkinsons; it fits into the
neighborhood and would be the rnight location for a proposal such as this. He stated that the project
would be 1/10™ the size of the proposed Draconis project, and knew that there would still be work to be
done, to bring it to the Town Council, and would still like the opportunity to meet with the neighbors and
mitigate some of their concerns with landscaping and roads, and add conditions to take an inventory of
the existing surrounding roads and return the roads to that condition after construction was done. He felt
that there would be tangible community benefits to the Town that the project would provide and would tike
to engage with the neighbors and the Town and also felt that Peavine Trail improvements would be a
great idea, as well as pickleball courts or the water facility improvements.

Clinton Skeens — 3475 Old Home Manor, Chino Valley, stated he was Wilkinson's son and owned 1/3 of
the subject property. He shared the reason they chose solar versus developing or putting low-income
housing or anything similar on the property, was that it would not affect the land as much, that antelope
could still run through with open spaces. He stated he felt for the neighbors and their views, but it was
what it was, that they needed to support their land, and without some kind of income from this property,
they would not be able to do so. He thanks the Commission for their consideration and stated his family
had been in Chino Valley for over a hundred years, that his mom and dad did everything for the Town and
community, he had raised his kids here and loved this place.

Merritt closed the public portion of the meeting.
Merritt asked the Commission if they had any questions for staff.

Pizzi asked that if APS were to purchase the lease, would they need to get a new CUP, and would they
be able to expand.

Lineberry explained that the CUP ran with the land, that if the land was sold, the CUP would run with the
land. She further explained that if anyone wanted to expand the project, they would need to come back
with a new application, which would apply to APS as a public utility as well.

Morabito asked if there could be a way to correct the CUP so that the Town could receive money.

Lineberry expiained that because the draft Utility-Scale Solar Ordinance was not adopted, which would
have been the Town’s best way to actually get community benefit, a condition would need to be added to
the CUP.

Pasciak stated that he did address the possibility of Prospect14 speaking with the Development Services
department to reach some kind of agreement.

Lineberry stated that talking with Development Services and having it a condition of approval were two
different things.

Ditta stated he felt that the Town could not do that legally.
Lineberry challenged that, and stated a condition could be added.

Merritt stated that the Town could add a stipulation to the CUP for further discussion to be able to add
requirements for benefits to the Town, but the process had not gone in that direction as of yet.

Merritt asked the applicant to respond to the public comments.

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 50f 7



Rypkema stated they would be open to establishing a vehicle for community benefits and would want it to
be defined before moving forward with a permit. They realized that with the tax structure in Chino Valley,
the Town would not receive anything, and they felt that would not be fair, they were not trying to avoid
that but promote it. They would be open to a new tax analysis. She shared that in 2022 at the beginning
of the process, they had talked about road improvements, but roads were very expensive and with their
budget this would not be possible, only to maintain the roads in their current conditions. She stated it
would not be feasible economically for the project, and the heavy equipment would only use the roads for
a couple of months during construction with minimal use by pick-up trucks after the construction period.

Merritt asked the applicant to address the concerns on the battery dangers.

Rypkema replied that statistics show that the risk of fire would be very low and was rare compared to
other energy generation projects. She stated that technology has improved over the last three years.
She could share the data sheets on what products they planned to use and would be open to talking
about further protections they could put on site to make the community feel safer.

Pizzi asked if the APS substation hooked up only when the sun was up, what would be the purpose of the
batteries, and what would be the usual length of time before Prospect14 would sell the project, were they
basically assisting in the building of the solar facility, that their company did not maintain the facility after it
was built.

Rypkema replied that the batteries would be AC coupled with APS, so that APS could store excess
energy from somewhere else and deploy it whenever they needed it. It would be stored for peak times
and would be a four or six-hour storage facility. She stated that Prospect14 was a development firm and
typically took the project through the permitting process and then the long-term owner would take over
and operate the facility, usually a larger firm such as Goldman Sachs. The permits would carry through
with the project company, so the obligations Prospect14 signed up carried through for the life of the
project. Prospect14 would partner with the construction firm DEPCOM for construction and then there
would be a long-term owner such as APS or another company. Because they do not have permits yet,
they had not yet found a partner.

Merritt asked if the project would be built on spec, built with the thought that somecne would buy it, but
they did not have a buyer yet.

Rypkema replied that it would be part of the development process, and that they were still negotiating
with APS, it was still up in the air, and that they work with credible companies to support the contracts for
the length of the project.

Pizzi asked who the builder would be for the project.

Rypkema replied that they partnered with DEPCOM.

Merritt closed public portion of meeting.

A discussion was held by the Commission on how to proceed with a Motion.

Motion was made by Vice-Chair Pasciak, seconded by Meadors, to forward CUP-2025-01, as
presented, subject to the staff report, and information provided during the hearing, and the
conditions of approval in Attachment A to the Town Council for determination. A roll-call vote
was taken, and the Motion was denied 4-3 with Morabito, Pizzi, Ditta, and Zamudio voting nay and
Meadors, Pasciak and Merritt voting yay.

A discussion was held by the Commission on changing the Motion to approved or denied.

Motion was made by Ditta, seconded by Pizzi, to deny CUP-2025-01, as presented, subject to the
staff report, and information provided during the hearing, and the conditions of approval in
Attachment A. A roll-call vote was taken, and the Motion passed 4-2-1, with Morabito and
Pasciak voting nay and Meadors abstaining.

ACTION ITEMS: There were no action items for this meeting.

Planning & Zoning Commission Meefing Minutes
June 3, 2025
Page 6 of 7



INFORMATION ITEMS — FROM STAFF: COUNCIL ACTION OF PRIOR P&Z CASES: Lineberry
shared an handout of an article written by an attorney in Florida titled "Why can't | talk to my local city or
county commissioner about a development project” which made it really clear when you were talking
about creating policy, members could talk to anybody and get as much input as members wanted,
because they would be creating the policy. When you were talking about a specific project, you would
be applying policy that is already in place to a project/property. The article talked about the differences
between the two and why the Commission members declared hefore each project that you heard
whether you've had information or not from other people. It would be important that if you heard
something from someone, you're able to share it with the rest of the Commission, so that they would
have the same benefit of the same knowledge.

INFORMATION ITEMS — FROM THE COMMISSIONERS: none.

INFORMATION ITEMS — FROM THE CHAIR: Merritt stated that the meeting tonight was the American
process in full bloom, and he was grateful for the public attending and speaking. He thanked the public
for being there, and felt the Commission did the best they could for the Town of Chino Valley and
appreciated any support they got.

INFORMATION ITEMS — FROM THE PUBLIC: none.
ADJ‘7UR - A motion was made by Meadors and seconded by Ditta to adjourn the meeting at 7:23 p.m.

/ /4/6 Darsann Fhobeng,

ERarles Merritt - Chair Prepared By: Gerreann Froberg)

Planning & Zoning Commission Meeting Minules
June 3, 2025
Page 7 of 7



Dear Town Manager Denemy,

| would appreciate your passing on my letter of support to Chino Valley Planning & Zoning
Commissioners for the 52.5 MW/ac solar array with integrated 52.25 MW / 315 MWh battery storage
project under consideration for development on Wilkerson private land. This meeting is taking place
tonight at 6pm.

While | am not a local resident of Chino Valley, our organization, Arizonans for Community Choice,
supports local renewable energy development and service. | am aware that despite a pending ordinance
to prohibit utility scale solar and storage in or near the Town mainly due to misinformation about the risks
of solar energy, the Wilkerson solar project can proceed under a conditional use permit.

AZ4CC is a strong advocacy organization for expansion of renewable energy projects that serve local
communities, cause minimal impact to local ecosystems and habitats, reduce reliance on fossil fuels,
confirmed by climate scientists from local universities and around the world, as the number once cause
of greenhouse gas emissions and an increasingly warmer, dryer planet.

Prospect14 has performed due diligence to build a system designed to interconnect directly to APS’s
nearby substation; no long distance transmission construction is required. This is essentially a smaller
scale solar energy project that is the perfect size footprint for Chino Valley and will serve the local
citizenry. This solar project will have minimal environmental impact; use minimal water, which is an
important consideration in Arizona; does not emit greenhouse gases or other polluting gases and is less
expensive per kwh than fossil fuel or nuclear energy.

As many energy policy makers and advisors have also stated, we need to embrace the growing demand
for electricity with an “all hands on deck” approach to sourcing all forms of sustainable, clean and
renewable energy. The arguments from solar naysayers about the dangers of solar development are
unfounded whereas coal and gas plants which are located in rural communities in Arizona have a much
more toxic effect on local citizens, causing respiratory illness, cancer, death, etc.

I strongly urge Chino Valley Planning & Zoning Commissioners to vote in favor of recommending to Town
Council members that they vote to greenlight the Wilkerson solar project, under the new conditional use
permit provision.

Sincerely,

Shelly Gordon
State Director

www.az4cc.org
650.248.6975 - talk/text

‘ Arizonans for

Community Choice




